
1 
 

LOPATCONG TOWNSHIP RENT LEVELING BOARD  
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

MAY 15, 2025 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER  
 
Chairman Palitto called the meeting to order. 
 
SILENT PRAYER 
 
Chairman Palitto offered a moment of silent prayer. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Chairman Palitto requested everyone stand for the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
OPEN PUBLIC MEETINGS STATEMENT 

Chairman Palitto stated “Adequate notice of this meeting has been provided indicating the time 
and place of the meeting in accordance with Chapter 231 of the Public Laws of 1975 by 
advertising a Notice in The Express Times, Warren County Zone and The Star Ledger and by 
posting a copy on the bulletin board in the Municipal Building.” 
 
ROLL CALL  
 
Present:  Vice-Chairman Lou Belcaro, Member Rich McQuade and Chairman Jim Palitto 
 
Also Present:  Attorney Wade Baldwin 
 
Chairman Palitto continued the meeting with Old Business. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 

• Minutes – Approve Regular Meeting Minutes from March 20, 2025 
 
Vice-Chairman Belcaro made a motion to approve the minutes and Member McQuade seconded 
the motion. 
 
Motion by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro   Seconded by:  Member McQuade 
 
ROLL CALL 
AYES:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro, Member McQuade and Chairman Palitto 
NAYS:  None 
 

• Minutes – Approve Executive Session Minutes from March 20, 2025 



2 
 

Vice-Chairman Belcaro made a motion to approve the minutes and Member McQuade seconded 
the motion. 
 
Motion by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro   Seconded by:  Member McQuade 
 
ROLL CALL 
AYES:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro, Member McQuade and Chairman Palitto 
NAYS:  None 
 
Chairman Palitto continued the meeting with New Business. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Vacancy Decontrol Applications: 
 

1. Warren Heights – Vacancy Decontrol Application – 43 Limerick Lane 
2. Warren Heights – Vacancy Decontrol Application – 338 Shannon Court 
3. Warren Heights – Vacancy Decontrol Application – 337 Shannon Court 

 
Attorney Baldwin stated that he would like to note for the record that there have been no 
objections to the Vacancy Decontrol Applications and that all applications can be addressed 
collectively. 
 
Chairman Palitto asked for a motion to approve Vacancy Decontrol Applications 1 through 3. 
 
Motion by:  Member McQuade   Seconded by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
AYES:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro, Member McQuade and Chairman Palitto 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTAIN:  None 
 
Hardships/Complaints: 
 

4. Brakeley Gardens Tenant – Unit M-2 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 24, 2025 – Late fees and retro rent  

5. Brakeley Gardens Tenant – Unit F-7 
- Hardship/Complaint dated April 23, 2024 – Bank account request 

6. 90 Route 57 – Tenant  
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 20, 2025 – Rent increase  

7. Warren Heights Apartments – Lopatcong, New Jersey – Landlord 
- Hardship/Complaint dated February 27, 2025 and attorney cover letter with 

attachments (undated) – Received May 2, 2025 via USPS  
8. Warren Heights – 415 Lenape Lane – Tenant 

- Hardship/Complaint dated March 20, 2025 – Rent increase 



3 
 

9. Warren Heights – 293 Rainbow Way – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 20, 2025 – Rent increase 

10. Warren Heights – 376 Shannon Street – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 20, 2025 – Rent increase 

11. Warren Heights – 302 Rainbow Way – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 17, 2025 – Rent increase 

12. Warren Heights – 235 Windmill Court – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 17, 2025 – Rent increase 

13. Warren Heights – 434 Lenape Lane  – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 20, 2025 – Rent increase 

14. Warren Heights – 431 Lenape Lane – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 21, 2025 – Rent increase 

15. Warren Heights – 367 Shannon Street – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 24, 2025 – Rent increase 

16. Warren Heights – 296 Rainbow Way – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 18, 2025 – Rent increase 

17. Warren Heights – 432 Lenape Lane – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 18, 2025 – Rent increase 

18. Warren Heights – 164 Horseshoe Court – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 25, 2025 – Rent increase 

19. Warren Heights – 213 Windmill Court – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 19, 2025 – Rent increase 

20. Warren Heights – 347 Shannon Street – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated April 7, 2025 – Rent increase 

21. Warren Heights – 294 Rainbow Way – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated March 21, 2025 – Rent increase 

22. Warren Heights – 354 Shannan Court – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated April 24, 2025 – Rent increase 

23. Warren Heights – 438 Lenape Lane – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated April 25, 2025 – Rent increase 

24. Warren Heights – 378 Shannon Court – Tenant 
- Hardship/Complaint dated May 9, 2025 – Rent increase 

 
Chairman Palitto called Brakeley Gardens tenant M-2 with no response.   
 
Chairman Palitto called Brakeley Gardens tenant F-7.  Mr. Derrick Starks appeared.  He stated 
that he has continued paying his rent the same way he has been paying although he has not heard 
anything yet about the Resolution. 
 
Secretary Segeda reminded the Board that Mr. Starks is one of the 13 tenants of Brakeley 
Gardens subject to the Resolutions adopted at the last meeting and Attorney Baldwin 
acknowledged that. 
 



4 
 

Attorney Baldwin stated to Mr. Starks that the Board intends to discuss the matter in their 
Executive Session. 
 
Mr. Starks advised the Board that in June he and his wife will be at Brakeley Gardens three years 
and he still has not received a new lease.   
 
Attorney Baldwin stated to Mr. Starks that the Board will be addressing the issue. 
 
Chairman Palitto called 90 Route 57 tenant with no response. 
 
Chairman Palitto stated that items 7 through 24 would be tabled to the July Rent Leveling Board 
meeting.  He stated that the Board did receive the hardship/complaint from Warren Heights.   
 
Attorney Baldwin stated that the Board received the Warren Heights application on May 2, 2025 
and the Board did not have sufficient time to properly notice and hear the application and for that 
reason, the matter will be tabled until the next meeting. 
 
Secretary Segeda asked Attorney Baldwin if the Warren Heights tenants would have an 
opportunity to speak during Public Comment and Attorney Baldwin replied that they would. 
 
Correspondence: 

25. Warren Heights Tenant – 348 Shannon Street 
- Email with letter from Warren Heights dated March 4, 2025 regarding rent increase 

26. Brakeley Gardens Tenant – Unit M-2 
- Email with photo showing water/sewer still being charged 

27. Brakeley Gardens Tenant – Unit Q-1 
- Handwritten letter dated May 5, 2025 regarding late fees reimbursement 

 
Chairman Palitto called Warren Heights tenant 348 Shannon Street. 
 
Attorney Baldwin interrupted to state to the Warren Heights tenants in attendance that the 
landlord cannot take any action until there is approval by the Board so there should not be any 
rent increases until then.   
 
Lynn Jameson of 348 Shannon Street appeared and informed the Board that she feels it is a 
violation of her rights to have to stand up and tell her finances and HIPAA information in an 
open forum.  She stated that she would like to file her hardship/complaint privately and not have 
it public.   
 
Attorney Baldwin asked Secretary Segeda if Ms. Jameson filed a hardship/complaint.  Secretary 
Segeda stated that Ms. Jameson submitted a letter and not a hardship/complaint.   
 
Attorney Baldwin stated to Ms. Jameson that after the Board reviews the landlord’s 
hardship/complaint, the Board will then determine what facts contained in the tenant 
hardships/complaints will be relevant to the matter. 



5 
 

 
Member McQuade informed Ms. Jameson that there is no reason for her to reveal any health 
issues and asked her if she intends on filing her hardship/complaint due to the rent increase in 
violation of the ordinance.  Ms. Jameson stated that she will be filing her hardship/complaint for 
many reasons. 
 
Attorney Baldwin stated to Ms. Jameson that the Board has not yet reviewed the landlord’s 
hardship/complaint for a rent increase.   
 
Ms. Jameson continued by stating that not all tenants were served with the notice of the rent 
increase and Attorney Baldwin stated that is one of the reasons the matter is not yet being heard. 
 
Ms. Jameson stated that the landlord Sela has only been with Warren Heights for a little over two 
years and asked why they are in this hardship and Attorney Baldwin once again explained that 
the Board has not yet reviewed the hardship/complaint filed on behalf of the landlord and as such 
cannot comment on merits. 
 
Ms. Jameson stated that she thought this would be done by now and asked how many times is the 
landlord allowed to submit a hardship/complaint.  Attorney Baldwin advised Ms. Jameson that 
the landlord submitted one application that was received on May 2, 2025.  He further stated that 
the Board has 90 days to decide the hardship/complaint under the ordinance and time begins the 
day the application is received.  He further stated that because the Board has not yet reviewed the 
application and needs time to notice everyone affected, the matter is being tabled to July. 
 
Ms. Jameson stated that a 15% rent increase request is ludicrous and verbally listed all items in 
her apartment that need to be addressed by the landlord. 
 
Attorney Baldwin reminded her that the matter has been tabled to next month and that there will 
be a time for public comment.   
 
Chairman Palitto reminded the public to be respectful while someone is speaking at the podium. 
 
Chairman Palitto called Brakeley Gardens tenant Unit M-2 with no response. 
 
Chairman Palitto called Brakeley Gardens tenant Unit Q-1 with no response.  Secretary Segeda 
reminded the Board that tenant Q-1 is Mr. Bjellquist who was one of the 13 Brakeley Gardens 
,tenants subject to the Resolutions adopted at the last meeting.  Mr. Bjellquist’s correspondence 
was just letting the Board know that he has not yet been fully reimbursed. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – 3 Minutes 
 
Chairman Palitto continued the meeting with Public Comment.  Chairman Palitto reminds the 
public that they are allowed to come to the podium once and will have three minutes with no 
time deferred to another person. 
 



6 
 

Lynn Jameson of Warren Heights again appeared at the podium.  She asked the Board how 
handicapped parking works at Warren Heights.  She asked if Warren County or Lopatcong has 
an ordinance as to handicapped parking.  She asked if Warren Heights can charge for a personal 
handicap parking spot. 
 
Attorney Baldwin advised that Lopatcong does not have an ordinance on the issue.  He further 
advised that parking would be based on the standards by the engineer on the approved parking 
for the development.  He further stated that there are a certain number of spots per resident that 
need to be handicap.  If you make a request for a handicap parking space, they should provide a 
reasonable accommodation but they can charge for parking.  Attorney Baldwin reminded Ms. 
Jameson that the Board is here to handle rent control issues and does not have any authority over 
any issues outside of rent control. 
 
Ms. Jameson asked who she can contact about the handicap parking situation at Warren Heights 
and Attorney Baldwin advised her to call the Warren County Housing Authority.  He further 
advised that if she has additional questions that they could point her in the right direction.   
 
John Betz, Brakeley Gardens, Apartment Y-14 appeared and explained what rent control means.  
He stated a New Jersey town does not have to have a rent control ordinance but Lopatcong chose 
to have one.  He further stated that all the information on rent control is contained in the 
ordinance which can be obtained online or in the Clerk’s Office.  He stated that Patty would be 
happy to provide a copy to anyone.   
 
Mr. Betz also discussed the disability laws in the State of New Jersey and stated that it has been 
said for the last 15 years or so that Brakeley Gardens was built before the ADA laws so those 
handicap spots were not necessary for the landlord to provide.  He further stated that the last 
management company, Salem Management, offered handicapped parking for a fee of $85 for a 
personalized sign and a post to be put in.  He stated that this was before Harbor Group came in 
and started charging really high fees.   
  
Elliott Godwin, Brakeley Gardens, Unit H-7.  Mr. Godwin stated that he understands from the 
agenda that the Board had correspondence from another Brakeley Garden tenant regarding 
improper charges of water and sewer and that he is here to inform the Board that this is not an 
isolated incident.  He moved into Brakeley Garden in November and only found out through a 
meeting with the Brakeley Gardens Tenant Organization a few months ago that the charges are 
not supposed to exist in the first place.  He further stated that each building only has one meter 
each and Harbor Group Management is using the new leases to put the entire water and sewer 
bill on new tenants.  Mr. Godwin stated that he has statements showing that he is being charged 
an average of $60 a month for water and sewer. 
  
Diane Brons, 294 Rainbow Way, Warren Heights appeared.  Mr. Brons stated that she has a 
question about security deposits.  She stated that she is a renter for the last five years and she was 
of the understanding that the landlord is supposed to give each tenant an annual statement as to 
the security deposit and interest.  She stated that she is now being told that there is no longer a 
security deposit because the money has been spent.  She asked the Board for help with that 
situation.   



7 
 

Attorney Baldwin asked Ms. Brons to complete a hardship/complaint and she stated that she has 
already submitted it. 
 
Member McQuade asked Ms. Brons if she has supporting documents such as the canceled check 
for the security deposit and she stated that she does along with many other documents.   
 
Attorney Baldwin asked Ms. Brons to give Patty all the information and documentation. 
 
Vice-Chairman Belcaro confirmed that Warren Heights told her that they spent the security 
deposit and she advised that is correct and that she has it in writing.  Member McQuade again 
confirmed that Warren Heights actually advised her that her security has been spent and Ms. 
Brons once again confirmed that is correct.  
 
Levon Porter, Lenape Lane, Warren Heights appeared.  She asked if the vacancy decontrol 
applications are public record and Attorney Baldwin advised that they are.  She further asked 
where they can be found and Attorney Baldwin stated that they can be obtained by submitting an 
OPRA request to the Township Clerk. 
 
Ms. Porter inquired as to who can object to a vacancy decontrol application and Attorney 
Baldwin advised that it would be the affected tenants which would be the tenant vacating the 
residence or the incoming tenant.  He further stated that the tenant leaving can object for reasons 
such as being forced or harassed to vacate. 
 
Ms. Porter stated that the reason she is asking is because those applications do affect the current 
tenants and Attorney Baldwin asked how since all other units are still under rent control.  She 
further cited the Warren Heights Apartments hardship/complaint for rent increase.  Ms. Porter 
asked if the Warren Heights hardship/complaint will affect tenants and he stated that it will.  
Attorney Baldwin explained the difference between a hardship/complaint and a vacancy 
decontrol application.  He further explained the burden of proof by the applicant in a hearing.  
 
Mary Dembowski, 415 Lenape Lane, Warren Heights appeared.  She asked the Board if they 
could tell her the factual numbers for the budget for the years prior to Warren Heights asking for 
the rent increase.  She stated that she has been living in Warren Heights since June 2012 and has 
never had such a bad landlord like Warren Heights.  She further stated that the Warren Heights 
units were built in 2007 and nothing has been updated in them since that time.  She stated that 
everything is broken and they give you used items to replace the broken items.  She further states 
that she’s been waiting for a new window since August.  She would really like to know what 
Warren Heights spent on repairs for the years prior to asking for this rent increase.   
 
Crystal Alicea, 402 Lenape Lane, Warren Heights appeared.  She stated that she has not received 
a notice for a rent increase and that she heard about it from her neighbors.  She asked how 
Warren Heights can request permission for such a substantial rent increase when they are under 
rent control.  Attorney Baldwin advised that the ordinance provides for rent control.  He stated 
that it also has relief for a landlord if the rent control is too restrictive and that the Board can 
allow some fluctuation.  An example of that is vacancy decontrol which is when a tenant leaves 
their unit, the landlord can put the unit back up for rent at the market rate.  He further stated that 



8 
 

another example is a hardship application wherein the landlord can ask for a rent increase.  
Attorney Baldwin again reminded Ms. Alicia that the landlord requesting an increase does not 
mean that the landlord will get the increase.  He stated that the applicant landlord must support 
their request.  Attorney Baldwin stated that there are instances where a landlord has capital 
expense that they cannot afford and a hardship complaint is filed to request an increase outside of 
what is allowed. 
   
Ms. Alicea asked, if a tenant is currently in a unit, can the rent be increased up to 15% if the 
landlord’s request is approved and Attorney Baldwin advised that is correct.  Ms. Alicea asked if 
she should file a hardship/complaint and was advised by Attorney Baldwin that the hardship 
application is generally for landlords who can’t afford to make improvements or run the building 
at a profit and not a loss.   
 
Ms. Alicea asked what she could do because a 15% rent increase would be difficult.  She asked if 
she had any “say so” in the matter and Attorney Baldwin advised that there will be a hearing and 
she can speak in opposition then.  She further asked how she can be included and put on the 
agenda and Attorney Baldwin advised that notices will be sent to anyone involved for the July 
hearing. 
 
Vice-Chairman Belcaro stated that as a comfort to everyone, no decision has been made on the 
subject as the Board has not yet reviewed the matter. 
 
Stephanie Welsh, Lenape Lane, Warren Heights appeared.  She stated that although she received 
the hardship/complaint notice by Warren Heights, she knows that many residents did not receive 
notice.  She asked how long after a hardship/complaint is received is it heard by the Board and  
Attorney Baldwin advised that a notice from the Township would mean you are part of the 
subject matter of the landlord’s application.  He further advised that if you don’t receive notice 
from the Township, the landlord is not permitted to increase your rent for more than the rent 
controlled amount.   
 
Ms. Welsh asked Attorney Baldwin about the tenants that recently signed their new leases.  
Attorney Baldwin advised that if the amount is over what is permitted by the Rent Control 
Ordinance, that is a violation of the ordinance and the tenant should file a complaint.   
 
Member McQuade added that in the correspondence that the tenants received from Warren 
Heights, it does state that they are seeking an increase of 15% in rent effective upon the approval 
of the Rent Leveling Board.  The Board and Attorney Baldwin again stated that Warren Heights 
must prove hardship for any rent increase to be approved.  
 
Ms. Welsh ended with asking the Board not to approve the rent increase as the conditions of the 
units are horrible and Member McQuade stated that she should come to the hearing to address 
her concerns. 
 
Judy Nardella, 434 Lenape Lane, Warren Heights appeared and stated that she will be on 
vacation in July and won’t be able to make the hearing.  Attorney Baldwin advised Ms. Nardella 



9 
 

to give Secretary Segeda her information.  Ms. Nardella informed the Board that she just signed 
her one year lease.  Attorney Baldwin advised that the Board will discuss the matter. 
 
Susan Allen, 302 Rainbow Way, Warren Heights appeared.  She asked what happens if there is a 
rent increase for tenants that already signed their annual lease and Attorney Baldwin advised that 
any increase would become effective with the next lease unless there is a provision in the current 
lease stating otherwise.   
 
Ms. Allen stated to the Board that they are in a really tuff spot on this Warren Heights rent 
increase subject because many people moved to Lopatcong for the rent control and they know 
the Board cares about the community and its citizens.   
 
Vice-Chairman Belcaro advised Ms. Allen that the Board is here to enforce the rent control 
ordinance and Ms. Allen wished the Board the best and stated that she would see them in July. 
 
The Board allowed Ms. Jameson to ask a question from the audience.  She discussed how she 
feels this is harassment by the landlord and that some of their actions border on criminal.  She 
stated that the HOA at Warren Heights pays for mostly everything and the landlord Sela only 
takes care of what is in the apartments.  She asked what the 15% is for?  Attorney Baldwin stated 
to Ms. Jameson that if anyone feels that any actions by the landlord are criminal, they should call 
the police.   
 
Ms. Jameson stated that your home is supposed to be your refuge and that a lot of the tenants are 
elderly and are fearing the substantial rent increase.   
 
Amy Bowker, 282 Rainbow Way, Warren Heights appeared.  She asked if she heard it right that 
some tenants have been served by the landlord and some have not.  She further asked if they are 
allowed to pick and choose who gets the increase or is it all tenants or no tenants that will be 
affected.  Attorney Baldwin stated that if the reason for the rent increase is for capital 
improvements inside certain apartments, then perhaps only those tenants may see the increase.  
He further stated that his statement is just an example.  Attorney Baldwin advised that he and the 
Board need to review the hardship/complaint from Warren Heights and hold a hearing to 
determine the reasons for the requested increase.   
 
There were further discussions on reasons why some tenants were not served.  Ms. Bowker 
advised that she had to go to the post office to pick up her letter because it was certified and 
suggested that may be the reason some did not receive it.  She stated that some tenants do not 
drive and perhaps could not pick it up from the post office or some tenants refused to sign for the 
certified delivery by the postal carrier. 
 
Attorney Baldwin advised that everyone will get notices about the hearing but that everyone 
should check the agenda. 
 
Chairman Palitto asks the public if there are any other comments.  Chairman Palitto seeing and 
hearing none asked for a motion to go into executive session. 
 



10 
 

• Adopt Resolution R 25-21 to Hold Executive Session 
 
Motion by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro   Seconded by:  Member McQuade 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
ALL IN FAVOR:  Ayes 
NAYS:  None 
 
EXECTUTIVE SESSION 
 

• Attorney/Client Privilege – Potential Litigation 
 
Chairman Palitto asked for a motion to come out of executive session. 
 
Motion by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro   Seconded by:  Member McQuade 
 
ALL IN FAVOR:  Ayes 
NAYS:  None 
 
RESUME REGULAR SESSION  
 

• Summarize Executive Session 
 
The Lopatcong Township Rent Leveling Board emerged from its executive session at 8:07pm.  
Attorney Baldwin stated that the Board discussed potential litigation and several matters that are 
subject to attorney/client privilege.  He stated that minutes from the executive session will be 
released at such time as the Board deems no public harm will come from it.  He further stated 
that no official action was taken.   
 
Chairman Palitto asked for a motion to file suit against the landlord of Brakeley Gardens for non-
compliance with the 13 resolutions with regard to 13 tenant complaints. 
 
Motion by:  Member McQuade   Seconded by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
AYES:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro, Member McQuade and Chairman Palitto 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTAIN:  None 
 
Attorney Baldwin explained that the motion is regarding the 13 resolutions the Board issued 
against Brakeley Gardens.  Brakeley Gardens has not complied with any of the resolutions.  The 
Board is authorizing the Board Attorney to file suit against Brakeley Gardens.  
 
 



11 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Chairman Palitto asked for a motion to adjourn. 
 
Motion by:  Vice-Chairman Belcaro   Seconded by:  Member McQuade 
 
ALL IN FAVOR:  Ayes 
NAYS:  None 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
Patricia A. Segeda 
Rent Leveling Board Secretary 
 


